
Atty. No. 41106
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION

COREY STEPNEY, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

vs. )
)

STATEBRIDGE COMPANY, LLC, )
)

Defendant. )

COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION

INTRODUCTION

1. This action arises from Defendant’s attempts to collect from Plaintiff, through

misrepresentation and intimidation, a time-barred second mortgage loan.

2. Plaintiff alleges violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 

et seq. (“FDCPA”).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(d).

4. Personal jurisdiction in Illinois is proper because Defendant sent its collection letters

into Illinois.

5. Venue in this county is proper because Defendant’s collection letter was received here. 

PARTIES

Plaintiff

6. Plaintiff Corey Stepney is a natural person residing in Cook County, Illinois, in a home

which she owns.

Defendant

7. Defendant Statebridge Company, LLC (“Statebridge”) is a limited liability company

organized under Colorado law with its principal address at 6061 S. Willow Drive, Ste. 300, Greenwood

Village, CO 80111. It does business in Illinois. Its registered agent and office is Incorp Services Inc., 901
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S. 2nd St., Suite 201, Springfield, IL 62704. 

8. Statebridge states on its web site that it “provides custom, high touch special servicing,

and sub servicing for the mortgage industry.” (https://www.statebridgecompany.com/about-us/)

9. “Special servicing” is mortgage industry argot for servicing loans which are delinquent or

in default when the servicer first becomes involved with them, as opposed to current or performing

loans.

10. Statebridge seeks and obtains ratings as a special servicer (Exhibit A).

11. As of June 30, 2023, Statebridge serviced 18,456 loans totaling $2.44 billion. (Exhibit A)

12. Statebridge is a debt collector as defined in the FDCPA with respect to loans that are

delinquent when it begins its involvement with them.

13. Statebridge is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6), in that it is

a person who uses one or more instrumentalities of interstate commerce or the mails in any business (a)

the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts and/ or (b) which regularly seeks to

collect debts owed to others.

FACTS

14. In 2005, Plaintiff Corey Stepney obtained an “80/20" mortgage loan secured by her

home.

15. The "80/20" loan allowed a borrower with a subprime FICO score to

simultaneously take out two loans to purchase or refinance a home: a first lien loan (typically 80% of

the purchase price), and a second lien loan (typically 20% of the purchase price). Because the

borrower financed the entire purchase price, the borrower had no equity in the home, which

substantially increased the risk that the borrower would default on the loan. The product was

devised by Countrywide executive Angelo Mozilo, who was sued by the Government for fraud. 

SEC v. Mozilo, 09cv3994, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98203, at *11 (C.D. Cal. Sep. 16, 2010). 

 16. Mozilo described the "80/20" loan as “the most dangerous product in existence

and there can be nothing more toxic . . . .”  2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98203, at *55.
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17. In Plaintiff’s case, the 20% loan was made by Long Beach Mortgage Company.

18. The Truth in Lending statements for the two loans are attached as Exhibits B and C.

19. GMAC Mortgage claimed to have acquired the 20% loan from Long Beach.

20. Plaintiff, along with numerous other consumers, fell behind on her loans in 2008.

21. On September 25, 2008, GMAC Mortgage notified Plaintiff that her loan was

accelerated. (Exhibit D)

22. Plaintiff filed a Chapter 13 bankruptcy, which was eventually dismissed.

23. Thereafter, she brought her first mortgage current.

24. In 2023, Plaintiff received a notice (Exhibit E) stating that the servicing of her

second mortgage was being transferred from Veripro Solutions to Statebridge Company LLC. This

notice disclosed that “Because of the age of your debt, we will not sue you for it . . . In

circumstances, you can renew the debt and retart the time period for the statute of limitations if you

take specific actions such as making certain payment on the debt or making a written promise to

pay. Veripro Solutions, Inc. . . agrees that we will never file a lawsuit against you for the collection of

this debt, it is our responsibility to make you aware of the facts stated herein. Please also be advised

that this account remains secured by a lient against the property that will only be released upon full

payoff, reduced payoff, through a bankruptcy with an approved lien strip order or by operation of

law.”

25. The language quoted above is standard, template language.

26. The statute of limitations in Illinois is ten years for a note, 735 ILCS 5/13-206, and

to commence a mortgage foreclosure, 735 ILCS 5/13-115. The date would run from no later than

acceleration in 2008.

27. On June 6, 2023 Statebridge sent Plaintiff a statement (Exhibit F) stating that

“Failure to bring your loan current may result in fees and foreclosure – the loss of your home.” This

statement asserted that “As of 06/06/2023 you are 5,210 days delinquent on your mortgage loan.” 

This is over 14 years.
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28. On June 7, 2023, Statebridge sent Plaintiff a statement (Exhibit G) containing similar

statements.  

29. Statebridge has been sending Plaintiff statements containing similar language on a

monthly basis (Exhibits H-J ).

30. Exhibits G-J are form or template documents.

31. It is the standard practice for Defendant to send documents stating that failure to

bring loans current may result in foreclosure or fees where the loan and mortgage are time-barred.

32. On August 10, 2023 (Exhibit K) Statebridge advised that the loan was serviced by

Statebridge for “Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, d/b/a Christiana Trust, as Trustee for

PNPMS Trust 1.”  

33. PNPMS TRUST I is actually a Delaware statutory trust entity. Its registered agent

and office is Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, 500 Delaware Avenue, 11th Floor,

Wilmington, DE 19801

34. Plaintiff is confused, upset and distressed at Statebridge’s continual threats that she is

facing the loss of her home.

COUNT I – FDCPA

35. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-34.

36. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §1692e, 1692e(2), 1692e(4), 1692e(5) and 1692e(10) by

stating that Plaintiff could lose her home and have to pay fees when that is not the case.

37. Section 1692e provides:

False or misleading representations

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in
connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the general application of the
foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this section: . . . 

(2) The false representation of—

(A) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or

(B) any services rendered or compensation which may be lawfully received by
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any debt collector for the collection of a debt. . . . 

(4) The representation or implication that nonpayment of any debt will result in the
arrest or imprisonment of any person or the seizure, garnishment, attachment, or sale
of any property or wages of any person unless such action is lawful and the debt
collector or creditor intends to take such action.

(5) The threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be
taken. . . . 

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to
collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer. . . . 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

38. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of a class.

39. The class consists of (a) all individuals in Illinois (b) to whom Defendant Statebridge

sent a document referring to foreclosure or loss of home (c) after a prior servicer or subservicer had

sent the individual a document stating that because of the age of your debt, we will not sue you for it

(d) where the document referring to foreclosure or loss of home or fees was sent at any time during

a period beginning one year prior to the filing of this action and ending 30 days after the filing of

this action.  

40. Plaintiff may alter the class definition to conform to developments in the case and

discovery.

41. On information and belief, based on the size of Defendant’s business operations

and the use of form documents, there are more than 40 members of the class, and the class is so

numerous that joinder of all members is not practicable.

42. There are questions of law and fact common to the class members, which common 

questions predominate over any questions relating to individual class members. The predominant

common questions are: 

a. Whether Defendant engages in the practice described;

b. Whether the practice described above violates the FDCPA.

43. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the class members. Plaintiff has
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retained counsel experienced in class actions and FDCPA litigation. Plaintiff’s claim is typical of the

claims of the class members. All are based on the same factual and legal theories.

44. A class action is appropriate for the fair and efficient adjudication of this matter,

in that:

a. Individual actions are not economically feasible.

b. Members of the class are likely to be unaware of their rights;

c. Congress intended class actions to be the principal enforcement mechanism

under the FDCPA.

WHEREFORE, the Court should enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and the class and

against Defendant for:

i. Statutory damages;

ii. Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit;

iii. Such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.

/s/ Daniel A. Edelman
Daniel A. Edelman

Daniel A. Edelman
Dulijaza (Julie) Clark
EDELMAN, COMBS, LATTURNER & GOODWIN, LLC
20 South Clark Street, Suite 1500
Chicago, IL 60603-1824
(312) 739-4200
(312) 419-0379 (FAX) 
Email address for service: courtecl@edcombs.com
Atty. No. 41106
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NOTICE OF LIEN AND ASSIGNMENT

Please be advised that we claim a lien upon any recovery herein for 1/3 or such amount as a
court awards.   All rights relating to attorney’s fees have been assigned to counsel.

/s/ Daniel A. Edelman
Daniel A. Edelman

Daniel A. Edelman
EDELMAN, COMBS, LATTURNER

& GOODWIN, LLC
20 S. Clark Street, Suite 1500
Chicago, Illinois  60603
(312) 739-4200
(312) 419-0379 (FAX)
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EXHIBIT A 
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